Fig. 8. Icon, Andreas Ritzos, Ascension, Hetoimasia, Hospitality of Abraham and Single
Saints, tempera on wood. Tokyo, National Museum for Western Art.

is compared with the Sarajevo icon (fig. 2) signed by
Nikolaos Ritzos, which has been assigned to that peri-
0d.*® Thus, the iconographic affinities between the
composition of the Walters Annunciation and paint-
ings connected with the Ritzos workshop are comple-
mented by the stylistic affinities of the icon with the
Ritzos workshop.

A Triptych by Angelos Bitzamanos

This triptych was acquired by Henry Walters with the
Massarenti collection in 1902. Today its three panels
are separated, but they were not during the last

decades of the nineteenth century, when it was exhib-
ited in Rome in the Accoramboni Palace.** A photo-
graph presumably taken soon after 1902 (fig. 9) shows
that the triptych was still whole during the first years
after its acquisition. It further shows that the frame of
the central panel is not original. (This may explain
why the triptych was dismembered.) Though not the
original, the frame in the photograph is certainly the
same shape as the original, because something like this
would have been required to attach the lateral wings
to the central panel, which is slightly shorter. This is a
highly unusual way of putting the three panels of a
triptych together.

The central panel (fig. 10), measuring 20.5 x 16.2
cm., shows the Virgin in bust holding the Christ Child.
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Fig. 9. Triptych, Angelos Bitzamanos, photographed soon after its
isition in 1902, tempera on wood, Balti the Walters Art
Gallery, no. 37.626.

Fig. 10. (below) Central panel of triptych in fig. 9, The Virgin Holding
the Christ Child.

The left wing (fig. 11), measuring 20.7 x. 8.8 cm.,
shows, on its inner side, St. Jerome in the desert; the
right wing (fig. 11), measuring 20.9 x 8.4 cm., shows
St. John the Baptist. The outer side of each wing,
which is painted red, shows a coat of arms on the
lower part (half on each wing) and a cross with the
symbols of the Passion and the abbreviations IC XC
(=IHCOYC XPICTOC) in the upper part (fig. 12). The
top corners of the exterior display a vegetal decora-
tion, consisting of tendrils rendered in gold on the red
background.

The triptych was painted by the Cretan artist
Angelos Bitzamanos, as an inscription on the inside of
the left wing (fig. 11) clearly indicates: ANGELUS
BI/ZAMANUS/PINXIT. This painter was active in the
last decades of the fifteenth century and the first
decades of the sixteenth.” However, the triptych was
dated “around 1150 in the old catalogues of the
Massarenti collection, a reasonable conjecture at a
time when the documents concerning the painter’s
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life and career were unknown. Today we know that
Angelos Bitzamanos worked in Crete, Dalmatia, and
Italy. The earliest document connected with his activi-
ty is a contract of apprenticeship, signed on April 24,
1482, in Candia, between the Cretan painter Andreas
Pavias and the father of Bitzamanos, Nikolaos.*® In the
contract, it is agreed that Andreas Pavias will teach the
art of painting to the young Angelino Vicimano
(=Bitzamano) for a period of five years. The next doc-
ument is from 1518 and relates to a commission for
the execution of an altarpiece Angelos Bitzamanos
undertook to paint for the Confraternity of the Holy
Spirit in Komolac, Dalmatia.*

For the execution of this altarpiece—of which
only the predella (the lower frieze) survives today (figs.
13 and 14), in Dubrovnik*—Bitzamanos moved to
Komolac. After Dalmatia, Bi s, together with his
brother(?) Donato, went to Italy, working in Otranto
and Barletta. A terminus for his stay in Otranto is the
year 1532, a date given by an icon by Angelos
Bitzamanos showing the Virgin with the Christ child
and the young St. John, which is in Leningrad.*
Perhaps he stayed in Otranto for as long as Donato
did, who signed an icon there in 1539.%2 Angelos’s
presence in Barletta is documented by one of his
icons; indeed this is the last trace of him.** The activity
of Angelos Bitzamanos is indicative of the conditions
existing on Crete during the period of the Venetian
occupation, when the travel and even the emigration
of Cretan painters to Venetian-held territories, such as
Dalmatia, or to Italy itself was facilitated.

The central panel of the triptych shows the Virgin
holding the Christ child (fig. 10). The atmosphere of
the composition is very westernized; the Virgin is an
Italian Mad. not a Byzantine Panaghia. The western
look of her face is further emphasized by the garments
she is wearing: an inner vestment with a golden stripe
around the neck and sleeves, a transparent velum, and a
mantle so heavily decorated in gold that it acquires a
brocart appearance. Christ is also very western looking,
with his fat, round face and curly hair. His vestments
too are completely Italian, both in type and color. A
further western element is his small halo. Christ’s pos-
ture is unusual, as is the way he is gazing upwards to the
right, where St. John the Baptist appears on the wing.
Though the icon is western in manner and Cretan
painters were often commissioned by western clients to
execute icons of the Virgin “alla latina,” the preferred
type was usually the Madre della consolazione.** Though
this triptych shares features with the Madre della conso-
lazione, such as the fixed, undirected gaze and the
transparent velum, they are relatively minor.

Fig. 11. Left and right wings of triptych in fig. 9, inner side, St. Jerome

(no. 37.626A) and St. John the Baptist (no. 37.262B).

Fig. 12. Rear of triptych in fig. 9.

83

Fig. 13. Predella, Angelos Bi Five Saints, tempera on wood,
The Icon [New York 1982], 326).

On the inner side of the left wing (fig. 11), the
penitent St. Jerome is depicted. He is kneeling before
a cave and, turning to the right, gazes upwards towards
a crucifix. St. Jerome has a stone in his right hand, and
his arm is extended, ready to beat his chest. With his
left hand he is grasping the border of his himation
close to his chest, which is left uncovered. Behind him

composite icon in the Kanellopoulos Museum in
Athens (figs. 15 and 16).* The icon, which shows the
Virgin of the Passion, scenes from the Virgin’s life, and
single saints, has been convincingly attributed to
Angelos Bitzamanos. The saint is again shown penitent
in the wilderness, but his representation has an even
deeper western character. What is common to all three

on a rock lies his cardinal’s hat and just above app repr i is that the serpent, scorpions, and

the inscription. skull, which constitute current el of this compo-
A representation of St. Jerome is also found in  sition, have been omitted; the lion was included only
her painting by Angelos Bi the predelle in the Komolac St. J

of Komolac (figs. 13 and 14). The two representations, The rep: ion of St. J , a saint especial-

though they both display the iconographic type of the
penitent St. Jerome in the wilderness, have very few
specific fe in c The Komolac | has
been completely transformed into a western saint. This
is especially evident in the Italianate background,
which is a very important part of this iconographic
theme. On the other hand, the Walters St. Jerome dis-
plays Late Byzantine features, such as the type and
shape of the cave and the rocky landscape with the
tiny bushes.* A third repr of St. Jerome,
also associated with Angelos Bitzamanos, is found in a

Fig. 14. Detail of fig. 13, St. Jerome.
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ly venerated in the Latin church, in the work of a
Cretan painter is not peculiar. It is consonant with the
conditions on Crete during the Venetian occupation
and reflects the fact that Cretan icons were meant for
both Orthodox and Catholic clients. Furthermore, the
co-existence of Cretans and Venetians, especially in
the urban centers of Crete, resulted in some western
saints gaining popularity even among Orthodox
Cretans. This is the case with St. Francis, representa-
tions of whom are included even in Cretan churches.*
As for St. Jerome, depictions of his iconographic cycle
are to be found in Late Byzantine churches, as well as
single representations of him curing the lion’s paw.*
The surviving rep ions of St. in Cretan
painting indicate that g his various iconographi
schemes the one that gained the greatest popularity is
the penitent St. Jerome in the wilderness, which is a
western theme. We have already seen three representa-
tions of the penitent St. Jerome in works either signed
or attributed to Angelos Bitzamanos. To these exam-
ples may be added four more: a Cretan triptych in the
Vatican, with St. Jerome on the outer side of the right
wing,* presumably of the second quarter of the fif-
teenth century, a composite icon including St. Jerome
on the lower-right corner, which dates from the late-
fifteenth century, in the Museum of Art and History in
Geneva, and two icons of the fifteenth to sixteenth
century, one in the Byzantine Museum and the other
in Ravenna.®!




The image of the penitent St. Jerome in the
wilderness has been shown to represent the medieval
conception of the holy man.*? It has also been shown
that the penitent St. Jerome was especially venerated
by orders of hermits founded in the late fourteenth
century and dedicated to St. Jerome. The most impor-
tant of these orders, the Hieronymites, were settled in
the area of Florence (Fiesole). Their activities have
been associated not only with the veneration of St.
Jerome, but also with the representation of that saint
in fifteenth-century Florence. It is believed that this
iconographic subject was established in Florence, pos-
sibly in the workshop of Lorenzo Monaco, whence it
spread all over Italy.>® The contribution made by
Venetian artists to the establishment of the type is also

deniable.> The penitent St. J was frequently a
popular subject in works of art for private cult an
devotion as well. He was considered to offer an ideal
example for the conduct of personal life. His represen-
tation on the triptych of the Walters Art Gallery, an
object relating to a private cult, must support this idea.

St. John the Baptist is shown on the inner side of
the right wing of the triptych (fig. 11). He is turned to
the left, dressed in his usual garments, the sheepskin
(melote) and the himation. He is holding in his right
hand a long staff topped with a lozenge bearing a rep-
resentation of the Lamb of God (Agnus Dei), toward
which he points with his left hand. Before his feet is
the bowl with his decapitated head. The background is
rocky and consists of two diametrically opposed trian-
gular mountains.

The main iconographic fe of this rep
tation are current in fifteenth-century Cretan icons. In
fact, the posture of St. John (with one leg bent and
turning his body toward the side), his garments, his
decapitated head in a bowl before his feet, the shape
of the bowl, and the type of the landscape are all to be
found in icons of St. John the Baptist painted by

Fig. 15. Icon, The Virgin of the Passion, Scenes, and Single Saints, tem-
pera on wood, Athens, Kanellopoulos Museum, no. 7.

Angelos (Akotantos) in the second quarter of the fif-
teenth century (fig. 17).5° What is different from these
icons is that St. John is here not winged and he is car-
rying the long staff with the Lamb of God. (He is also
carrying it in the predella of Komolac [fig. 13] by
Bitzamanos.) This feature derives from fourteenth-
century Italian panel paintings, where it usually has
the shape of a disk and not a lozenge.* Tracing the
origin of this feature, however, we are taken back to
the sixth-century throne of the archbishop Maximian

Fig. 16. Detail of fig. 15, the lower part of the icon.
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Fig. 17. Icon, Angelos, St. John the Baptist, tempera on
wood, Malines, Museum Hof van Busleyden (from
Golden Light [Antwerp, 1988]).

in Ravenna.’” This element was also employed by thir-
teenth-century Crusader painters, as is shown by a trip-
tych at Mount Sinai, depicting St. John on the left
wing.*® The Agnus Dei is the only purely western ele-
ment in the representation of St. John the Baptist on
the right wing of the Walters triptych. All other ele-
ments have a strong Late Byzantine character. On the
other hand, the depiction of St. John on the Komolac
predella has a deeply western character, which is further
emphasized by the background.

The Walters triptych has brought into conjunction
three iconographic themes—St. Jerome, the Virgin
and Child, and St. John the Baptist—which are inter-
connected through the image of Christ included in all
of them. This combination exists in a large number of
western triptychs and panels.*® Furthermore, St.
Jerome and St. John the Baptist represent the ideal of
eremitic life. They have also been combined in anoth-
er Cretan triptych of the fifteenth century, now in the
Vatican.® A representation of these two saints together

with the Crucifixion is also mentioned in a document’

of 1640 signed in Candia.®

It is reasonable to ask who might have been the
owner of this triptych. The medium itself and the
object’s size point in the direction of an individual.
The inscriptions of the painter’s and the saints’ names
in Latin may indicate a western individual, presumably
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a nobleman, as the coat of arms on the outer side of
the wings shows. The form of inscription with the
painter’s name gives ground for further speculation:
ANGELUS BIZAMANUS PINXIT—without mention of
the place of the painter’s origin or the place where
this triptych was executed, as some Cretan icons do.
For example, an icon of the Crucifixion by Andreas
Pavias says ANDREAS PAVIAS PINXIT DE CANDIA®
and others of the Virgin of the Passion by Andreas
Ritzos say ANDREA RICCO DE CANDIA PINXIT® We
tend to believe that such icons were meant to be sent
outside Crete. Angelos Bitzamanos himself signed an
icon he painted in Otranto, Italy with the inscription
ANGELUS BIZAMANUS GRECUS CADIOTUS PINXIT
IN OTRANTO.% Does the simplicity of the inscription’s
information on the triptych indicate then that it was
painted in Candia and it was meant for a Venetian also
living in Candia? This hypothesis is supported by the
iconographic and stylistic evidence of the triptych. It
displays all the qualities and principles evident in
Cretan painting of the fifteenth century: a Late-
Byzantine character mingled with elements from
Italian painting, and a combination of compositions
rendered either alla maniera greca (St. John the
Baptist) or alla maniera italiana (the Virgin and Child,
St. Jerome). These are the lessons Angelos Bitzamanos
might have been taught by Andreas Pavias, in whose
workshop he stayed for five years (1482-1487). The
icons by Andreas Pavias clearly illustrate the skill and
ability of Cretan painters to work in two manners.%
This is evident in the work of his pupil Angelos
Bitzamanos and especially in the Walters triptych.

An Icon of the Visitation by Angelos
Bitzamanos

The icon (fig. 18) measures 22.5x 17.9 cm. and isin a
very good state of preservation. It belonged to the
Massarenti collection and was mentioned in the cata-
logues of 1881 and 1897.% Before that the icon was in
the possession of Seroux d’Agincourt.’” D'Agincourt
included it in the third volume of his monumental
work Histoire de l'art par les monuments depuis sa déca-
dence au IVe siécle jusqu’a son renouvellement au XVle,
which was published in Paris in 1823. He made a very
faithful drawing of the icon (fig. 19), in its original
size, and suggested a date from the fifteenth to six-
teenth century.®® The drawing of the icon by
d’Agincourt was included in the article of M. Bianco-
Fiorin on Angelos and Donato Bitzamanos;* the



Flg 18 Icon, Angelos Bitzamanos, The
on wood, Balti the
WahmAnGallety.no 37.748.

author was unable to trace the location of the icon. In
an exhibition catalogue of 1988, the icon is men-
tioned as being located in the National Museum of
Naples.” Only recently, was the icon rediscovered in
the storerooms of the Walters Art Gallery.

An inscription on the lower right corner reads:
ANGELUS BIZA/MANUS GRECUS CADIOTUS PINX-
IT/A OTRANTO. It is obvious that this is one of the
icons Angelos Bitzamanos painted during the years he

ing presumably indicates Elizabeth’s house, where the
Meeting took place. A walled city occupies part of the
background of the composition, while the rest is cov-
ered by high mountains.

This is a completely western composition and has
no connection with Late Byzantine or Cretan repre-
sentations of the theme, where it never existed as an
independent scene, but it was part of the Virgin's cycle
or the Akallum: (Oikos V) . In these examples the

stayed in Otranto. The icon illustrates the Meeting of
the Virgin and St. Elizabeth, the mother of St. John
the Baptist, while they were both pregnant (Luke
1:40-56). Elizabeth is on the right, and kneeling
before the Virgin, extends her right hand to greet and
welcome her. The Virgin stands on the left, opposite

[ I scheme is very simple and includes only
the two embracing women; the background consists of
a long wall, sometimes interrupted by two rectangular
buildings.” On the other hand, the Walters icon is an
independent, multifigured composition and the back-
ground is rich in architectural details and landscape

Elizabeth. High above her haloed head the abb

tions MHP 8V are written. Both women are dressed in

rich garments with heavy folds. Behind the Virgin
ds Joseph accompanied by two angels. Behind

Elizabeth stand three young-looking women in front of

an arched structure with a rectangular doorway, flat

roof and an oblique frieze with mouldings; this build-

1 Itis ble to suggest that Bitzamanos,
during his stay in Otranto, could easily have become
aware of current western representations of the
Visitation and copied one of them.” In fact, he
appears to have copied a representation of the
Visitation, which we d to locate in Books of
Hours (fig. 20) printed in Paris between 1505 and
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Fig. 19. Drawing by Seroux d’Agincourt of the icon in fig. 18 (from
Seroux d'Agincourt, History of Art [London, 1847], pl. XCIII).

1511 by Thielman Kerver.”* We do not know how
Angelos Bitzamanos became aware of a woodcut rep-
resentation either created or presumably just used by
this very printer and eng| . It is more

ppose that this repr ion of the Visitati aﬁcr
it was carved on wood, could have been produced in
large numbers and circulated throughout Europe.
Judging from the style of the woodcut, used by Kerver,
its origin must be looked for in northern Europe, pos-
sibly in Flemish art. The German origin of Kerver him-
self points in the same direction. The style of the
Bi ’ Visitation, h , is more Italianate.
The figures are less elongated than in the woodcut
and the architectural background, especially the
walled city, has lost its North-European, medieval char-
acter and taken the appearance of an Italian
Renaissance city. Did Bitzamanos himself convert the
North-European style of the scene into an Italianate
composition, or did he simply copy the work of an
unknown Italian artist, who had already borrowed this
representation either through Flemish art or through
the Kerver Books of Hours and had given to it an
Italian style? For as long as the surviving material can-
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not support such hypothesis, these questions must
remain open. The Walters Visitation is a Cretan icon
only in the sense that it was painted by a Cretan
painter and it is an icon only because it shows a reli-
gious subject; in this case the term panel seems more
appropriate.

The case of Angelos Bi a Cretan p
who became aware of western painting while still living
on Crete and who came into more direct contact with
western art after he left the island and went to Italy, is
not unique. It is however one of the earliest document-
ed cases. Neither is the fact that he left Crete after hav-
ing undertaken a commission for an altarpiece in
Dalmatia unique, although this too is one of the earli-
est documented cases.

The ple of Angelos Bi foreshad
the activity of Cretan painters such as Michael
Damaskinos (ca. 1535-1592/93) and Domenikos
Theotokopoulos (ca. 1541-1614). The former stayed in
Venice between 1574 and 1584 and carried out the dec-
oration of the parish church of San Giorgio dei Greci.™
The latter left Crete in 1567/68 wishing to explore the
full depth of western art, to reach the extremes of a

Fig. 20. The Visitation, Book of Hours. Thielman
Kerver, Paris, March 31, 1511. Printed Book.
London, The British Library, c. 29 g. 9, fol. 30



style of painting he already knew from Crete. His stay in

Venice and Rome enriched his artistic vocabulary, but

his arrival in Spain was the most decisive step towards

his transformation into a western artist, albeit one who
would always keep his Greek identity.”®

University of Crete

Rethymnon, Crete

NOTES

I had the opportunity to study these icons when I was on a
Dumbarton Oaks fellowship in the summer of 1989. Dr. Gary Vikan
was extremely helpful in putting everything at my disposal during
the visits I paid to the Walters Art Gallery. I want to thank Dr. M.
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